No. S273179

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

TRUCK INSURANCE EXCHANGE,

Plaintiff, Cross-Defendant, Appellant, Respondent, and Cross-Respondent,

v.

KAISER CEMENT AND GYPSUM CORP., et al.

Defendant, Cross-Complainants, Appellants, and Respondents.

> California Court of Appeal, Second District, Division Four, No. B278091 Los Angeles Superior Court No. BC249550

OPENING BRIEF

PIA ANDERSON MOSS HOYT, LLC

* Scott R. Hoyt, SBN 92723 shoyt@pamhlaw.com Adam L. Hoyt, SBN 296094 ahoyt@pamhlaw.com 136 East South Temple Street Suite 1900 Salt Lake City, Utah 84111

Telephone: (801) 350-9000 Facsimile: (801) 350-9010

* Robert A. Olson, SBN 109374 rolson@gmsr.com

RICHLAND LLP

ISSUE ON WHICH REVIEW WAS GRANTED

May a primary insurer seek equitable contribution from an excess insurance carrier after the primary policy underlying the excess policy has been exhausted (vertical exhaustion), or is equitable contribution from an excess insurance carrier available only after all primary policies have been exhausted (horizontal exhaustion)?

(Order granting review, April 13, 2022.)

INTRODUCTION

Insurance policy language, like the language in other contracts, should be read consistently. The same policy/contract language should mean the same thing in all contexts. Meaning should not depend on whether the plaintiff is an insured seeking coverage against an insurer or an insurer seeking contribution from other carriers. Rights based on insurance policies, including equitable rights of contribution between insurance carriers, should be founded on particular policies' specific language, *not* on non-contract or non-record-based assertions or judicial gloss.

Two years ago, in *Montrose Chemical Corp. v. Superior Court* 9 Cal.5th 215 (*Montrose III*), this Court interpreted policy provisions comparable to the ones at issue here in the context of a policyholder seeking to tap an additional layer of insurance coverage. Specifically, this Court held:

■ In construing obligations under an insurance policy, courts must look first to the policy language;

- Policy language seeking to disclaim coverage upon the existence of other insurance is treated the same no matter where in the policy it appears;
- Such language seeking to disclaim coverage upon the existence of other insurance is presumed to be limited to other insurance in the *same policy period* (in so holding, *Montrose III* followed the Restatement and decisions from multiple sister State Supreme Courts).

Here, Truck Insurance Exchange (Truck) provides insurance covering asbestos losses that span multiple carriers' policy periods. Asbestos claims are so-called long-tail claims as they trigger coverage in multiple policy periods, often decades worth of policy periods. Other insurers also cover the same long-tail claims that Truck covers. In particular, a handful of other insurers' policies promise to "continue in force as underlying insurance" upon the exhaustion of specifically identified, same-policy-period policies. (Exhaustion refers to payment of a policy's available policy limits.) It is undisputed that the specifically identified, same-policy-period policies have all been exhausted.

The other insurers claim (and the trial court and Court of Appeal held) that they don't have to live up to their "continue in force as underlying insurance" promises despite exhaustion of the specifically identified policies. This they claim is because Truck's policy should be considered available underlying other insurance to their own coverage even though it pertains to a different policy period. Because Truck's policy has no aggregate limit, this theory means that Truck and Truck alone must *always* bear *all* defense

costs and the first \$500,000 of indemnity expense for all claims its policy concurrently covers, including for claims that span the other carriers' policy periods and for which those carriers collected substantial premiums. But one can only reach this conclusion by ignoring the governing policy language and this Court's express *Montrose III* analysis.

The judicial construction of insurance policy language should be consistent, no matter which party asserts a particular meaning. Consistent reading of the policy language at issue in this equitable contribution action leads to only one result: The other carriers must live up to their "continue in force as underlying insurance" promises and contribute with Truck to the defense and indemnity of their common insured on claims that all of the policies cover. That is the only way to afford a fair result among multiple carriers, all covering the same losses.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

- A. Truck Insurance Exchange defends and pays decades' worth of asbestos bodily injury claims made against Kaiser Cement.
 - 1. Truck insures Kaiser Cement for policy years 1965 to April 1983, excluding amounts covered by other insurance.

Truck insured Kaiser Cement for bodily injury claims from December 31, 1964 until April of 1983. (2JA-535 ¶ 6.)¹ Truck's policies provided primary insurance, subject to the condition that such policies are excess of any other insurance covering the same loss: "If the insured has other insurance against a loss covered by this policy, the insurance under this policy shall be excess insurance over all such other valid and collectible insurance" (See, e.g., 1JA-153.)

The Truck policies had differing applicable bodily injury limits, ranging from \$100,000 per person/\$300,000 per occurrence to \$500,000 per person/\$500,000 per occurrence. (2JA-536 ¶¶ 6a, 6b, 6c.) From 1964 to 1971, there was a \$300,000 aggregate limit; from April 1980 until April 1983, there was a \$1.5 million aggregate limit. (2JA-536 ¶¶ 6a, 6c.) Critically, from 1971 until April 1980, the Truck policies had no aggregate limit, providing coverage for an inexhaustible number of occurrences. (1JA-140; 2JA-536 ¶ 6b.) Truck issued the no-aggregate limit policies at a time when this Court had yet to adopt multiple-policy-period

¹ We cite to the joint appendix as [volume]JA-[page].

coverage for long-tail claims, such as asbestos injury. (See Argument § I.A, *post*.)

All of the Truck policies also had an anti-stacking provision, which, for a single occurrence, limits recovery under all Truck policies combined to a single per-occurrence limit. (See, e.g., 1JA-145.) Each Truck policy has a duty to defend and indemnify Kaiser Cement for asbestos bodily injury claims triggering that policy. (E.g., 1JA-141, 213.)

The Insurance Company of the State of Pennsylvania (ICSOP) provides excess insurance over Truck's 1974 primary policy. (6JA-2428.)

2. Kaiser Cement tenders to Truck and Truck affords defense and indemnity of asbestos bodily injury claims under Truck's 1974 policy with a \$500,000 per-occurrence limit but no aggregate limit.

Kaiser Cement tendered to Truck, and Truck alone, the defense and indemnification of any and all asbestos injury claims that trigger—that is, potentially fall within the coverage of—the 1974 Truck no-aggregate-limit policy, regardless of whatever other policies those claims may also trigger. (2JA-539 ¶ 22.)

Truck has spent upwards of \$450 million defending and indemnifying Kaiser Cement under the 1974 policy.² Kaiser

14

² For the 38 months from July 1, 2004 to September 1, 2007, Kaiser incurred \$77.45 million in defense and indemnity costs that were Truck's responsibility. (*Truck Insurance Exchange v. Kaiser Cement* (Cal.Ct.App., Jan. 7, 2022, No. B278091) 2022 WL 71771 at p. *7 (*Truck v. Kaiser Cement I*) [nonpub. opn.].) That's

Cement paid only a \$118,000 premium for that policy. (8JA-3345, ¶ E.)

B. Other primary insurers on the risk, both before and after Truck's policy period, have long since exhausted their policy limits.

Truck was not Kaiser Cement's only asbestos bodily injury primary insurer. Injuries occurring over a long period of time—injuries caused by asbestos exposure are a prime example—trigger coverage under multiple insurance policies. (See Montrose Chemical Corp. v. Admiral Ins. Co. (1995) 10 Cal.4th 645, 686-687 (Montrose I).)

From 1947 until 1964, Fireman's Fund was Kaiser Cement's primary insurer against that risk. (2JA-535 ¶ 3.)

Home Insurance Company (Home Insurance) was Kaiser Cement's primary insurer between April of 1983 and April of 1985, after Truck was off the risk. (2JA-535 ¶ 4.)

Those policies have long since paid their aggregate policy limits: Fireman's Fund in April of 2004; Home Insurance in December of 1999. (2JA-535 ¶¶ 3-4.)

roughly \$24 million per year. That extrapolates to over \$400 million for the 17 years from July 2004 to July 2021. That's in addition to over \$50 million in indemnity payments (not including defense expenses) that Truck made before October 2004. (*Id.* at p. *8.)

C. For policy periods covered by the nowexhausted primary coverage, First State, Westchester, and London Market Insurers issued policies promising to drop down as primary insurance upon exhaustion of the specifically referenced primary policies.

The exhausted primary policies issued by Fireman's Fund and Home Insurance are backstopped by at least one layer of additional policies.³

The hybrid First State and Westchester policies.

First State Insurance Company issued an "Umbrella Liability Policy" covering from April 1983 through April 1984. (8JA-3014.) The International Insurance Company (Westchester) issued a "The Defender Commercial Comprehensive Catastrophe Liability Policy" covering May 1984 to April 1985. (8JA-3065, original emphasis.) These policies do not purport to be pure excess policies. Instead, they are hybrids. As discussed below, both the First State and Westchester policies promise to step into the shoes of the specifically identified, now-exhausted Home Insurance policy.

The hybrid and excess London Market Insurers'
policies. The London Market Insurers issued policies triggered
upon the exhaustion of the specifically scheduled Fireman's Fund

16

³ Many, but not all, of the key policy provisions were set out in a stipulated summary, 3JA-1074-1083, that is attached as an appendix to this brief per California Rules of Court, rules 8.204(d) & 8.520(b)(1). (Page 3JA-1079 is blank except for policy forms references and is omitted.)

primary policies. The London Market Insurers' policies were written on three forms, two of which are materially the same.

The policies in effect each year from 1953 to 1958 were written on the T.P. 7 "Excess Public Liability" form. (7JA-2473.)

From 1958 to 1964, the London Market Insurers issued "Umbrella" policies (3JA-1076) using the Price Forbes form (1958-1961) and the L.R.D. 60 form (1961-1964), which the parties agreed are materially the same. (3JA-1138-1141.) These later London Market Insurers policies are hybrids, not pure excess insurance.

1. The policy limits.

First State policy: The First State policy has a \$10 million policy limit "in excess of: A. The amount recoverable under the underlying insurance as set out in Schedule A attached." (8JA-3014.)

Westchester policy: The Westchester policy has a \$10 million policy limit in excess of "the total of the applicable limits of the underlying policies listed in Schedule A hereof, and the applicable limits of any other insurance collectible by the insured." (8JA-3065, 3077.)

London Market Insurers' Policies: The London Market Insurers "Excess Public Liability" T.P. 7 form has a \$2 million policy limit "after the Primary Insurers have paid or have been held liable to pay" "\$200,000 in ultimate net loss," with "Primary Insurers" defined as "Insurers shown on the Schedule attached." (7JA-2473.)

The London Market Insurers 1958-1964 "Umbrella" policies have limits "for the ultimate net loss the excess of ... (a) the limits of the underlying insurances as set out in the attached schedule in respect of each occurrence covered by said underlying insurances." (3JA-1076.)

2. With one exception, the various backstopping policies promise to "continue in force" as primary insurance, including defense costs, once the specifically scheduled underlying policies are exhausted.

The First State, Westchester, and various London Market policies, initially written above the now-exhausted primary policies, promise to "continue in force as underlying insurance" once the specified, scheduled same-policy-period underlying primary insurance policies have exhausted, as has happened.

First State policy: First State promised that its policy would "continue in force as underlying insurance" once "the aggregate limits of liability of the underlying policies, listed in the schedule of underlying insurance, are exhausted" (8JA-3012, italics added.) The First State policy's schedule of underlying insurance lists only a now-exhausted Home Insurance policy. (8JA-3015.) No mention is made of any other policy having to exhaust before the First State policy continues in force as underlying insurance, i.e., as primary insurance.

First State's policy's coverage "includes investigation, adjustment, appraisal, appeal and defense costs paid or incurred by the INSURED with respect to damages covered hereunder"

unless an "underlying insurer" is obligated to pay them. (8JA-3027 ["Ultimate Net Loss," italics added].)

Westchester policy: The Westchester policy contains almost identical language, agreeing to "continue in force as underlying insurance" upon "the aggregate limits of liability of the underlying policies listed in Schedule A" being exhausted "by reason of losses paid thereunder." (8JA-3078, italics added.) "Schedule A," in turn, lists an exhausted Home Insurance policy as the only scheduled underlying liability insurance. (8JA-3075.) Again, no mention is made of any primary policy other than the scheduled same-policy-period insurance before the Westchester policy "continues in force" as primary insurance.

The Westchester policy covers "[a]ll expenses, other than defense settlement provided in Insuring Agreement II, incurred by the insured in the investigation, negotiation, settlement and defense of any claim or suit seeking such damages, excluding only the salaries of the insured's regular employees," but "shall not include any damages or expense because of liability excluded by this policy." (8JA-3080, italics added.) Again, it purports to not apply to defense or legal expenses covered by "underlying insurance." (Ibid.) "Defense settlement" in "Insuring Agreement II" affords coverage for "any occurrence not covered, as warranted by the underlying policies listed in Schedule A hereof or not covered by any other underlying insurance collectible by the insured." (8JA-3079.) As to such claims, the Westchester policy promises to "defend any suit against the insured" and to "make such investigation, negotiation and settlement of any claim or

suit as it deems expedient." (*Ibid.*) Defense expenses are in addition to the policy limits. (*Ibid.*)

The London Market Insurers' Price Forbes and L.R.D. 60 forms (1958-1964): The two London Market Insurers' policy forms covering from 1958 to 1964 likewise promise to "continue in force as underlying insurance" upon the "exhaustion of the aggregate limits of liability under said underlying insurances"; the preceding language references "the underlying insurances as set out in the attached schedule," i.e., "said underlying insurances"—a schedule specifying only now-exhausted Fireman's Fund policies. (3JA-1076-1077.) No mention is made of exhausting any other insurance policy before the duty to "continue in force as underlying insurance" is triggered.

These policies define covered "Ultimate Net Loss" as including "expenses for doctors, *lawyers*, nurses and investigators and other persons, and *for litigation*, settlement, adjustment and investigation of claims and suits which are paid as a consequence of any occurrence covered hereunder, excluding only the salaries of the Assured's or of any underlying insurer's permanent employees." (3JA-1077, italics added.)

The London Market Insurers' T.P. 7 specific-excess

form: By contrast, the earlier London Market Insurers' T.P. 7 policy form (1953-1958) simply "attach[es]" after "Primary Insurers" have paid their limits, with "Primary Insurers" defined as "Insurers shown on the Schedule attached"—specifically scheduled same-policy-period underlying policies. (7JA-2473.)

No mention is made of unscheduled underlying insurance. The specifically scheduled underlying Fireman's Fund policies have been exhausted.

3. The policies purport to disavow coverage to the extent there is "other insurance."

The traditional excess "other insurance" policy provisions. Except for the early London Market Insurers' T.P. 7 form (see 7JA-2473-2485), the relevant policies contain traditional excess "other insurance" clauses:⁴

First State policy: "If other collectible insurance with any other INSURER is available to the INSURED covering a loss covered hereunder"—except insurance intended to apply in excess of the First State policy—then the First State policy "shall be in excess of, and not contribute with, such other insurance." (8JA-3028.)

The Westchester policy: The policy is "in excess of" any "other collectible insurance" available to Kaiser Cement—except for insurance intended to be in excess of the Westchester policy. (8JA-3082.)

21

they conflict. (*Id.* at pp. 744-745.)

⁴ "Other insurance" clauses come in various forms. An "excess" clause makes the policy excess to other insurance. In contrast, an "escape" clause purports to eliminate all coverage if there is other applicable insurance. And, a "pro rata" clause mandates sharing losses pro rata with other applicable policies. (*Commerce & Industry Ins. Co. v. Chubb Custom Ins. Co.* (1999) 75 Cal.App.4th 739, 743-744.) The various formulations are treated equivalently—disregarded in favor of prorating the losses—when

The London Market Insurers' Price Forbes and

L.R.D. 60 forms: "If other valid collectible insurance with any other insurer is available to the Assured covering a loss also covered by this policy"—with the exception of insurance written to be in excess of the policy—then "the insurance afforded by this policy shall be in excess of and shall not contribute with such other insurance." (3JA-1078.)

The "ultimate net loss" and "retained limits" phrasings. In addition, the various policies seek through other provisions to disavow coverage when other applicable insurance exists, e.g., defining covered "ultimate net loss" or "retained limits" terms to exclude amounts covered by other insurance:

First State policy: The First State policy purports to be "liable only for the ULTIMATE NET LOSS in excess of" the limits of both (1) the scheduled Home Insurance policy and (2) "the applicable limits of any other underlying insurance," whether or not it appears in the schedule of underlying insurance. (8JA-3012.) The policy further defines "ultimate net loss," in relevant part, to be "the sums paid as damages in settlement of a claim or in satisfaction of a judgment" after "making deductions for all other recoveries, salvages, and other insurances (whether recoverable or not)" (8JA-3027.)

In addition, the policy defines its "Underlying Limit" as "an amount equal to the limits of liability indicated beside the underlying insurance listed in the Schedule A of underlying insurance, plus the applicable limits of any other underlying insurance collectible by the insured." (8JA-3012.)

Westchester policy: Like the First State policy, the Westchester policy purports to be liable "only for the ultimate net loss in excess of" both "the total applicable limits in the underlying policies listed in Schedule A"—the Home Insurance policy—"and the applicable limits of any other insurance collectible by the insured." (8JA-3077.) In addition, it asserts that it "shall not apply to defense, investigation, settlement or legal expenses covered by underlying insurance." (8JA-3080.)

The London Market Insurers' Price Forbes and L.R.D. 60 forms (1958-1964): The London Market Insurers purport to limit coverage to Kaiser Cement's "ultimate net loss," defining "ultimate net loss" as "the total sum" that Kaiser Cement "or any company as his [sic] insurer, or both, become obligated to pay," including a bevy of possible litigation expenses. This broad "ultimate net loss" definition is then subject to the caveat that "[t]he Underwriters shall not be liable for expenses as aforesaid when such expenses are included in other valid and collectible insurance." (3JA-1077.)

The London Market Insurers' T.P. 7 form (1953-1958):

The T.P. 7 form defines "ultimate net loss" as "the sums paid in settlement of losses for which the Assured is liable after making deductions for all recoveries, salvages and other insurances (other than recoveries under the policy/ies of the [scheduled] Primary Insurers), whether recoverable or not" (7JA-2473.)

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The litigation among Truck, Kaiser Cement, and its other insurers has been lengthy and complex. We focus only on the history relevant to the issue before this Court on review.

A. London Market Insurers v. Superior Court:

Each asbestos bodily injury claim is a separate occurrence.

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