Supreme Court of California
Jorge E. Navarrete, Clerk and Executive Officer of the Court
Electronically FILED on 9/29/2022 by Ines Calanoc, Deputy Clerk

INU. 10110

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

TRUCK INSURANCE EXCHANGE,

Plaintiff and Appellant,

v.

KAISER CEMENT AND GYPSUM CORP., et al., Defendants, Cross-complainants and Appellants.

EXCESS INSURERS' ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal of the State of California Second Appellate District Case No. B278091

Appeal from the Superior Court for the State of California, County of Los Angeles, Case No. BC249550 The Honorable Kenneth Freeman, Judge

DUANE MORRIS LLP

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

Thus, because neither condition of the Attachment of Liability clause has been met, there is no attachment of liability under the 1953-58 policies even under Truck's incorrect "vertical exhaustion" theory. (See Aerojet-General Corp. v. Commercial Union Ins. Co. (2007) 155 Cal.App.4th 132, 137, 147 [finding conditions of clause not met under virtually identical facts and language]; see also McConnell v. Underwriters at Lloyds of London (1961) 56 Cal.2d 637, 646 [relying on similar "Attachment of Liability" clause and concluding liability under "the excess insurance does not attach until all primary insurance has been exhausted"], disapproved on other grounds in Reserve, supra, 30 Cal.3d at p. 814.)

2. The 1958-64 Excess Policies.

Ultimate Net Loss. The 1958-64 excess policies all indemnify Kaiser only for "ultimate net loss," which is defined to mean the loss net of "other valid and collectible insurance." (3-JAA-1076-77; 7-JAA-2686-87, 2764-65, 2767, 2817-19.)

Specifically, the definition of "Ultimate Net Loss" includes the types of expenses for which indemnity is potentially available and provides that the excess insurers "shall not be liable for expenses as aforesaid when such expenses are included in other valid and collectible insurance." (Ibid., emphasis added.) Because the 1974 Truck primary policy constitutes "other valid and collectible insurance" (see ICSOP, 155 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 295-96), there is no coverage obligation under the 1958-64 excess wording for claims within Truck's \$500,000 per occurrence limit because "other valid and collectible insurance" is available to pay ultimate net loss.

Assistance and Co-Operation. The 1958-64 excess policies all expressly disclaim the duty to defend in the Assistance and Co-Operation provision, which states that the excess insurers "shall not be called upon to assume charge of the settlement or defense of any claim made or suit brought or proceeding instituted against the Assured..." (3-JAA-1077, 7-JAA-2689, 2770, 2823.)

Other Insurance. The 1958-64 excess policies also contain an Other Insurance clause providing that "if other valid and collectible insurance with any other insurer" is available, the excess insurance "shall be in excess of and shall not contribute with" the other insurance. (3-JAA-1078; 7-JAA-2689, 2770, 2823.) The *ICSOP* opinion, which Truck agrees is law of the case, held that a virtually identical "other insurance" provision in the ICSOP excess policy required the exhaustion of all "valid and collectible" primary insurance before the excess policy attached. (*ICSOP*, 155 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 298; 6-JAA-2431.) The Court of Appeal reaffirmed that ruling again in this appeal. (*Truck*, *27.)²¹

Loss Payable. The "Loss Payable" provision in the 1958-64 excess wording further requires horizontal exhaustion of all primary coverage. That provision provides that "[l]iability under this policy with respect to any occurrence shall not attach unless and until the Assured, or the Assured's underlying insurer, shall have paid the amount of the underlying limits on account of such occurrence." (3-JAA-1078; 7-JAA-2689, 2770, 2823.) As held in *ICSOP*:

"Underlying insurance" simply means primary insurance. In other words, we believe that the reference to "underlying insurance" clarifies the excess nature of the ICSOP policy – i.e., that the policy does not attach immediately upon a loss, but only after all available primary insurance has been exhausted.

_

²¹ California courts have repeatedly relied upon "other insurance" provisions in concluding horizontal exhaustion is required in equitable contribution claims. (See, e.g., *Community Redevelopment*, *supra*, 50 Cal.App.4th at pp. 335, 338; *Reliance*, *supra*, 72 Cal.App.4th at p. 1075; *Carmel*, *supra*, 126 Cal.App.4th at p. 511.)

(*ICSOP*, *supra*, 155 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 295.) Under the applicable law of the case, Truck is the only available primary insurer and Truck's \$500,000 limit of liability is the primary limit that must be paid per occurrence before liability under an excess policy will attach. (*Id.* at pp. 305-06.) Again, Truck's drop-down argument fails as to the 1958-64 wording and law of the case.

3. The 1983-85 Excess Policies.

The excess policies in the 1983-85 period, including the First State and Westchester policies, contain the same "retained" limits" and "other insurance" provisions that Community Redevelopment and ICSOP held required all "valid and collectible" underlying insurance to be exhausted before an excess obligation is triggered. (3-JAA-1080-85; 8-JAA-3012, 3028, 3077, 3082; ICSOP, supra, 155 Cal.Rptr.3d at p. 298.) For example, the Retained Limit – Limit of Liability provision of the Westchester Policy states that "the company's liability shall be only for the ultimate net loss in excess of the Insured's retained limit, defined as the greater of: (a) the total of the applicable limits of the underlying policies listed in Schedule A hereof, and the applicable limits of any other insurance collectible by the Insured; or (b) an amount as stated in Item 4(C) of the declarations as the result of any one occurrence not covered by the said policies or insurance;..." (8-JAA-3077.) The First State policy has substantially the same provision. (8-JAA-3012.) This language is virtually identical to the policy language interpreted in ICSOP and Community Redevelopment as requiring horizontal

exhaustion. (ICSOP, at pp. 294-96, 298; Community Redevelopment, supra, 50 Cal.App.4th at p. 335.)

The First State and Westchester policies also disclaim the duty to defend (8-JAA-3012, 3082) and contain provisions that explicitly state the policies are excess to other "valid and collectible" insurance and "shall...not contribute with such other insurance." (8-JAA-3028, 3082.) Many of the higher layer "short forms" also include their own Other Insurance and Loss Payable clauses, which further reinforce horizontal exhaustion for the reasons previously stated. (See, e.g., 7-JAA-2931, 2973.)

C. The "Continue in Force" Language Does Not Transform Kaiser's Excess Policies into Primary Insurance from Which Truck Can Seek Equitable Contribution.

Rather than address the entirety of the excess contract wording or its context, Truck plucks three words from the Limit of Liability provision contained in some but not all of the excess policies. That provision, which is subject to all other terms and conditions of the policy, states that in the event of exhaustion of the aggregate limits of the underlying insurance by payment of losses, the excess policies shall "continue in force as underlying insurance." (3-JAA-1077, 1080, 1082; 7-JAA-2686, 2765, 2817-18; 8-JAA-3012, 3081.)²² Truck argues the "continue in force" phrase transforms excess policies into something like primary policies

59

²² The 1953-58 LMI excess policies do not contain "continue in force" wording. (3-JAA-1074.)

that are required to drop down and participate with other primary policies.

Although this phrase has appeared in excess policies generally since at least the 1950s (e.g. 3-JAA-1076-77), no California court has ever adopted the interpretation Truck now peddles, and for good reason—Truck's interpretation is flawed and requires the Court to ignore the remainder of the excess wording. For several reasons, Truck's interpretation fails.

As the Court of Appeal noted, Truck selectively focuses on one phrase out of context and in isolation from the rest of the policy. (*Truck*, *27.) The court explained that "[t]he 'continue in force' language is modified not only by the specified underlying policies, but also by the 'other insurance' that also must be exhausted." (*Ibid.*) "Indeed, the key language is the 'other insurance' language of the policies, which requires horizontal exhaustion." (*Ibid.*)

Additionally, all the excess policies make clear that Excess Insurers' obligations are subject to all of the limitations, terms and conditions of their contracts. Some state this condition at the beginning of the insuring agreement (3-JAA-1074, 1076), others add it directly in the paragraph containing the "continue in force" wording (3-JAA-1080, 1082), and some also state it in the Other Insurance clause requirement that "nothing herein shall be construed to make this policy subject to the terms, conditions and limitations of other insurance." (3-JAA-1078, 1085.) Further, policies containing a Maintenance of Underlying Insurance clause that acts as a follow form condition exclude the primary

insurer's obligation to defend, either expressly or by making the excess form, with its defense disclaimer in the Assistance and Cooperation clause, controlling. (3-JAA-1075, 1085.)²³ Only by ignoring the complete wording, that its claim is based in equity and the important contextual differences between excess and primary insurance, is Truck able to cobble its argument together.

In the face of the complete excess wording and in proper context, Truck's contention that the simple phrase "continue in force as underlying insurance" works to undo all the other provisions in the excess policies, including writing in a defense obligation where none exists, is unsupported and unreasonable.

Instead, the function of the "continue in force" phrase is much more basic—it operates to fill a potential gap that might open between the excess policy and the underlying policies as the underlying policies pay claims and erode or exhaust their aggregate limits. The "continue in force" wording closes that gap, protecting the policyholder, not Truck. But when the excess policy "continues in force," it does so subject to all its terms, including the disclaimer of a duty to defend and the exhaustion requirement of all collectible insurance. Nothing in the clause suggests otherwise.²⁴

_

²³ The Maintenance of Underlying provision in the 1953-58 excess policies expressly states they do not follow form to the primary insurers' "obligation to investigate and defend ..." (3-JAA-1075 [emphasis added].)

²⁴ Truck cites one Arizona case as "support" for its assertion that excess policies with "continue in force" language promise to "step into the shoes" of primary policies upon exhaustion. (TOBM, 51,

Moreover, the drop down feature never comes into play where Truck's 1974 policy is implicated because that policy has no aggregate limit, and will *always* pay the first \$500,000 of each occurrence; and ICSOP (which sits above the 1974 Truck policy), and the other triggered Excess Insurers (pursuant to the Excess CIP) will pay the excess amount up to the available excess limit. In other words, there is no "gap" so the "continue in force" feature is not relevant—a result due in large part to Truck's success in *ICSOP*, which is the law of this case.

The handful of courts that have considered the issue have squarely rejected the "transformation" argument Truck makes. In *Newmont USA Ltd. v. American Home Assur. Co.* (E.D.Wash. 2009) 676 F.Supp.2d 1146, for example, the court explained, "the 'continue in force' language of the policy does not render the remaining terms of the excess policy a nullity or suggest that its conditions are replaced by the provisions of the underlying insurance. There is no authority for such a proposition and it just simply runs counter to the express and unambiguous language of the policy itself." (*Id.* at p. 1156; see also *Flintkote*

citing AMHS Ins. Co. v. Mut. Ins. Co. of Arizona (9th Cir. 2001) 258 F.3d 1090, 1096.) But AMHS does not involve "continue in force" wording and never states excess "stand in the shoes" of primary insurers. Instead, AMHS turned on the specific wording at issue and a somewhat unusual situation where a single insurer wrote multiple layers of both straight excess and umbrella policies. (258 F.3d at pp. 1094-1100.) The case also applied Arizona law and was distinguished in Carmel, supra, 126 Cal.App.4th at pp. 513-14, because it "does not appear to be consistent with California's approach to equitable contribution."

Co. v. Gen. Acc. Assur. Co. of Canada (N.D. Cal. Aug. 6, 2008) 2008 WL 3270922 at p. *26 [rejecting contention that excess policy was transformed into a primary policy when it dropped down: "Specific excess policies that provide for coverage for liability only do not automatically 'drop down' to become a substitute primary policy upon unavailability of the covered primary policies. The excess policy nevertheless remains excess."].)²⁵

No California case has ever adopted Truck's reading of the "continue in force" clause. For example, the excess policy at issue in Community Redevelopment also contained "continue in force" language and the court nonetheless held that the excess policy read as a whole required horizontal exhaustion. (Community Redevelopment, 50 Cal.App.4th at pp. 335, 338-340.) Truck claims two out-of-state cases found the "continue in force as underlying insurance" language includes defense costs, but neither supports Truck. (TOBM, 56, citing Sinclair Oil Corp. v. Allianz Underwriters Ins. Co. (Ill. Ct. App. 2015) 39 N.E.3d 570 and Interstate Fire & Cas. Co. v. Auto-Owners Ins. Co. (Minn. 1988) 433 N.W.2d 82.) Sinclair Oil addressed different policy language, which stated it is "subject to the terms and conditions of the underlying insurance." (39 N.E.3d at p. 580.) The policies here do not have that language. *Interstate Fire* did not base its decision on "continue in force" language, but instead applied a broad approach "of allocating respective policy coverages in light

²⁵ The trial court and Court of Appeal found *Flintkote* did not support Truck. (3-JAA-1303-04; *Truck*, *21-22.)

of the total policy insuring intent, as determined by the primary policy risks and the primary function of each policy." (433 N.W.2d at p. 86 & fn.2.) No California case has followed that approach.

In sum, the "continue in force" phrase does not exist in a vacuum. It must be read in context and in conjunction with all the provisions of the excess contracts, including disavowal of a duty to defend, and the "ultimate net loss," "other insurance," and other policy language requiring application of horizontal exhaustion of all primary insurance. The phrase does not transform an excess policy into a primary policy when the excess policy's other terms and conditions indicate otherwise.

Nor can Truck transform the excess policies into primary policies by inventing a new term for them—"hybrid." Whatever moniker Truck devises, the excess policies are certainly *not* primary policies, and the Truck policy certainly *is* a primary policy. The excess policies and the Truck policy therefore do not insure the same risk at the same level, and, accordingly, Truck is not entitled to contribution under the basic principles outlined above.

D. The Court of Appeal Previously Adjudicated Horizontal Exhaustion in *ICSOP*, Which Is Law of the Case. Truck's Arguments Are Also Foreclosed Under Judicial Estoppel.

Truck's entire drop down argument also is barred by the law of the case and judicial estoppel doctrines which arise from the prior *ICSOP* decision.

As the Court of Appeal found, Truck's current arguments are subject to the law of the case doctrine, which "precludes a party from obtaining appellate review of the same issue more than once in a single action." (Truck, *20, quoting Katz v. Los Gatos-Saratoga Joint Union High School Dist. (2004) 117

Cal.App.4th 47, 62.) The doctrine "applies to this court even though the previous appeal was before the Court of Appeal, and it applies even though this court may conclude the previous Court of Appeal opinion was erroneous." (Morohoshi v. Pacific Home (2004) 34 Cal.4th 482, 491.) Truck acknowledges that the ICSOP decision is "highly persuasive" but wrongly argues it is "not binding." (TOBM at 28) Truck is bound and cannot reargue this issue under the law of the case. (Morohoshi, at p. 491.)

Here, *ICSOP* held that horizontal exhaustion of primary insurance was required before the ICSOP excess policy attached. (*ICSOP*, supra, 155 Cal.Rptr.3d at pp. 297-298.) Thus, "all of the primary policies in force during the period of continuous loss will be deemed primary policies to each of the excess policies covering that same period." (*Id.* at p. 297.) Having argued and lost the horizontal exhaustion issue in *ICSOP*, Truck cannot now resurrect the same arguments and take another crack at obtaining a different result, particularly where the other parties acted in reliance on the law of the case regarding the attachment of excess insurance. (*Truck*, *20.)

In addition, judicial estoppel forecloses Truck's twin arguments that there is other non-Truck "primary" insurance (i.e., the Excess Insurance) and that Truck's fair share is less

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